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GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS FOR CONTESTING TENTATIVE RULINGS IN DEPT. 12 
 

NOTE PROCEDURE CAREFULLY 
 

The tentative ruling will become the Court’s ruling unless by 4:00 p.m. of the court day preceding the 
hearing, counsel or self-represented parties call the department rendering the decision to request 
argument and to specify the issues to be argued. Calling counsel or self-represented parties requesting 
argument must advise all other affected counsel and self-represented parties by no later than 4:00 p.m. 
of his or her decision to appear and of the issues to be argued. Failure to timely advise the Court and 
counsel or self-represented parties will preclude any party from arguing the matter. (Local Rule 3.43(2).) 
 
Note: In order to minimize the risk of miscommunication, Dept. 12 prefers and encourages fax or email 
notification to the department of the request to argue and specification of issues to be argued – with a 
STRONG PREFERENCE FOR EMAIL NOTIFICATION. Dept. 12’s Fax Number is: (925) 608-2686. Dept. 12’s 
email address is: dept12@contracosta.courts.ca.gov. Warning: this email address is not be used for any 
communication with the department except as expressly and specifically authorized by the court. Any 
emails received in contravention of this order will be disregarded by the court and may subject the 
offending party to sanctions. 
 
 

Submission of Orders After Hearing in Department 12 Cases 
 
The prevailing party must prepare an order after hearing in accordance with CRC 3.1312. If the tentative 
ruling becomes the Court’s ruling, a copy of the Court’s tentative ruling must be attached to the 
proposed order when submitted to the Court for issuance of the order. 
 

    

1. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  C22-01157 
CASE NAME: KAM TAM VS. TOTAL LENDER SERVICES INC. 
 HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 1ST AMENDED COMPLAINT  
FILED BY: PAN, PETER J. 
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
Before the Court is the Pan defendants’ demurrer to plaintiffs' first amended complaint. The 
demurrer is overruled as to the first, second, fourth, fifth, seventh, and ninth causes of action. It is 
sustained without leave to amend as to the third and fifth causes of action. 

The demurring defendants are given 30 days in which to answer the surviving causes of action. 

Background 

Plaintiffs are obligors under a $200,000 promissory note dated April 1, 2008 secured by a deed of 
trust on plaintiffs' residence located at 1452 Club View Drive, El Cerrito, CA recorded on April 9, 2008. 
(FAC ¶¶ 1, 4, 12-15; Defs. RJN Exh. A.) The lenders under the note and deed of trust are defendants 
the Pans.  
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Plaintiffs filed a voluntary petition under Chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code on December 31, 2009. 
(Defs. RJN Exh. B.) Plaintiffs listed the debt to the Pans on their Chapter 7 bankruptcy schedules 
without indicating the debt was disputed. (Defs. RJN Exh. B.) They subsequently filed two Statements 
of Intention in the bankruptcy case on January 4, 2010 and on February 10, 2010, in which they listed 
the debt to the Pans and confirmed their intention to "reaffirm" the debt to the Pans. Plaintiffs did 
not list any claims against the Pans related to the note and deed of trust, or any offsets or 
counterclaims regarding the amount owed on the debt to the Pans, in their bankruptcy schedules, a 
fact plaintiffs do not dispute. (Defs. RJN Exhs. B-D.) Plaintiffs obtained a discharge in their Chapter 7 
case on April 6, 2010. 

On March 22, 2022, a Notice Pursuant to California Civil Code § 2966 was issued to plaintiffs, stating 
that the amount of $530,720.00 was owed by them to the Pans under the note and deed of trust. 
(FAC ¶ 16 and Exh. B.) On March 23, 2022, a Notice of Default was issued to plaintiffs, initiating 
foreclosure on the Pans' deed of trust, stating that the amount of $332,524.68 was owed on the note 
and deed of trust. (FAC ¶ 17 and Exh. C.)  

Plaintiffs' FAC alleges nine causes of action. Facts relevant to these individual causes of action are 
discussed below in the Court's analysis.  

The Pans demur to each of the nine causes of action. Defendants' demurrers are supported by a 
memorandum of points and authorities arguing as the sole ground for the demurrers that the causes 
of action are barred by equitable estoppel and judicial estoppel based on plaintiffs' failure to list these 
claims, or any claims, against the Pans on their bankruptcy schedules and related bankruptcy 
documents in their 2009-10 bankruptcy case. 

Standards for Ruling on Demurrer 

In ruling on the demurrer, the Court must accept as true all well-pleaded factual allegations of the 
FAC, but not "'contentions, deductions or conclusions of fact or law.'" (Blank v. Kirwan (1985) 39 Cal. 
3d 311, 318.) The Court deems the facts alleged to be true, "however improbable they may be." (Del 
E. Webb Corp. v. Structural Materials Co. (1981) 123 Cal. App. 3d 593, 604; Universal By-Products, Inc. 
v. City of Modesto (1974) 43 Cal.App.3d 145, 151.) The Court gives the complaint "a reasonable 
interpretation, reading it as a whole and its parts in their context." (Blank, 39 Cal. 3d at 318.)  

The Court cannot sustain a demurrer unless it fully disposes of a cause of action. (Daniels v. Select 
Portfolio Servicing, Inc. (2016) 246 Cal.App.4th 1150, 1167 ["Ordinarily, a general demurrer may not 
be sustained, nor a motion for judgment on the pleadings granted, as to a portion of a cause of 
action. "]; PH II, Inc. v. Superior Court (1995) 33 Cal.App.4th 1680, 1682-1683 [reversing trial court 
order sustaining demurrer to one of several distinct incidents of malpractice pled in a single legal 
malpractice cause of action].)  

Procedural Issues 

A. Reply Brief Arguments Outside Grounds in Initial Memorandum 

The only ground asserted on which defendants claimed the nine causes of action of the FAC failed to 
state causes of action is that all claims are barred by are barred by judicial and equitable estoppel 
because plaintiffs' bankruptcy proceedings did not disclose any claims against the Pans or related to 
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the note and deed of trust. 

Defendants' Reply Memorandum raises new substantive legal arguments why plaintiffs' usury claims 
fail based on Mr. Pan's status as a real estate broker. That argument was not asserted in the initial 
papers, and plaintiffs have had no opportunity to respond to it. The Court declines to consider new 
arguments made in the Reply Memorandum for the first time and not raised in the initial 
memorandum in support of the demurrer. (See American Drug Stores, Inc. v. Stroh (1992) 10 
Cal.App.4th 1446, 1453 [on appeal, "Points raised for the first time in a reply brief will ordinarily not 
be considered, because such consideration would deprive the respondent of an opportunity to 
counter the argument."]; Fisher v. San Pedro Peninsula Hospital (1989) 214 Cal.App.3d 590, 604 [new 
points in reply brief on appeal].) (See also Jay v. Mahaffey (2013) 218 Cal.App.4th 1522, 1537-1538 [in 
which the Court stated in the context of an anti-SLAPP motion, "The general rule of motion practice ... 
is that new evidence is not permitted with reply papers."].) The contentions may be raised in an 
appropriate procedural setting. 

B. Requests for Judicial Notice 

The Pans filed a request for judicial notice concurrent with their demurrer, requesting the Court take 
judicial notice of (1) the deed of trust in favor of the Pans securing the April 1, 2008 promissory note 
executed by Plaintiffs (Defs. RJN Exh. A), (2) the bankruptcy case docket for Plaintiffs' 20009 
bankruptcy case (Defs. Exh. B); (3) the bankruptcy schedules filed by plaintiffs in their 2009 Chapter 7 
bankruptcy case (Defs. RJN Exh. C), (4) multiple statements of intention filed by plaintiffs in their 2009 
bankruptcy case (Defs. RJN Exh. D), and (5) the Court's notice of discharge of plaintiffs, indicating they 
received a discharge of their debts in their 2009 Chapter 7 case (Defs. RJN Exh. E). Plaintiffs do not 
object to the Court taking judicial notice of these documents, and the Court grants the request. 

Defendants filed a supplemental request for judicial notice with their Reply Memorandum on January 
25, 2023, asking the Court to take judicial notice of a record from the California Department of Real 
Estate concerning Peter Pan's real estate broker's license. (Defs. Supp. RJN Exh. F.) The Court denies 
the request, because the document relates to arguments raised for the first time in defendants' Reply 
Memorandum.  

Analysis 

Defendants argue that plaintiffs’ entire FAC is barred by plaintiffs' 2009 bankruptcy under the 
doctrines of judicial estoppel and equitable estoppel. In Hamilton v. Greenwich Investors XXVI, LLC 
(2011) 195 Cal.App.4th 1602, the Court held that a debtor's failure to disclose any litigation likely to 
arise in a nonbankruptcy context triggers application of the doctrine of equitable estoppel, operating 
against a subsequent attempt to prosecute the actions. (Id. at 1610.) The Hamilton court adopted the 
rule of Oneida Motor Frieght, a Third Circuit case which applied doctrines of equitable and judicial 
estoppel to find that a debtor’s failure to disclose a lender liability claim in chapter 11 bankruptcy 
proceedings precluded the debtor from later litigating the claim. (Id. [citing Oneida Motor Freight, Inc. 
v. United Jersey Bank (3d Cir. 1998) 848 F.2d 414)].)  

In Hamilton, the appellate court held that the plaintiff borrower’s fraud and breach of contract claims 
against the defendant lender were barred under the doctrine of equitable and judicial estoppel, 
because he failed to disclose the existence of the claims against the lender in the bankruptcy 
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proceedings. (195 Cal.App.4th at 1610.) The court adopted the Oneida Motor Freight rule because it 
reasoned that, similar to Oneida Motor Freight, the defendant bank was one of the plaintiff’s principal 
creditors in the bankruptcy proceedings and the events the complaint was based on occurred before 
his bankruptcy proceedings. (Id. at p. 1614.) 

On the other hand, Hamilton also held that the plaintiffs' claims for violation of the foreclosure 
statutes arose after their bankruptcy was filed. As a result, those claims were not barred by the 
bankruptcy and the equitable estoppel doctrine as they did not exist when the bankruptcy was filed. 
(Id. at 1615-16.) As the Hamilton decision reflects, when a cause of action arose is one of the factors 
that determines whether a debtor's bankruptcy bars the claim. 

The memorandum in support of the demurrers argues that all causes of action are barred by 
plaintiffs' prior bankruptcy because the note and deed of trust existed prior to the date of their 
bankruptcy petition. The Pans argue the failure to list their debt as disputed results in a judicial or 
equitable estoppel as to all causes of action. Defendants do not address when the specific causes of 
action alleged in the FAC arose, however. 

A. 1st, 2nd and 4th Causes of Action  

The first cause of action asserts that the note is usurious in violation of the California Constitution and 
seeks remedies based on violation of the usury laws. Plaintiffs allege that the note to the Pans is 
usurious as it provides for interest on the loan at 12% plus a 6% late fee. The second and fourth 
causes of action allege two other usury-related causes of action. In ¶ 60, following these causes of 
action, Plaintiffs allege that defendants "considered Plaintiffs' loan in default since in or around 
2009." The FAC does not allege when Plaintiffs made their allegedly usurious interest payments to the 
Pans, or the amount of payments Plaintiffs made on the note. 

"When a loan is usurious, the creditor is entitled to repayment of the principal sum only. He is 
entitled to no interest whatsoever. 'The attempt to exact the usurious rate of interest renders the 
interest provisions of a note void." (Hardwick v. Wilcox (2017) 11 Cal.App.5th 975, 979 [quoting Gibbo 
v. Berger (2004) 123 Cal.App.4th 396, 403 and Epstein v. Frank (1981) 125 Cal.App.3d 111, 122-23.) 
(See also Korchemny v. Piterman, supra, 68 Cal.App.5th at 1042 [same].) Claims for damages and 
injunctive relief to prevent Defendants from collecting excessive interest in violation of the usury law 
above the principal amount of the debt (1st cause of action and for recovery of any excessive interest 
Plaintiffs may have actually paid do not accrue until the borrower has actually paid excess interest, 
after all payments made on the debt are applied to the principal amount owed. (Hardwick, 11 
Cal.App.5th at 991.)  

The Court cannot determine from the allegations of the FAC that Plaintiffs' claim for damages for 
violation of the usury law and for recovery of usurious interest accrued or arose as of the date of their 
bankruptcy in 2009 from the face of the FAC or any documents subject to judicial notice. The Court 
similarly cannot determine from the face of the FAC and judicially noticed documents that plaintiffs 
are not entitled to seek declaratory relief as to the usurious nature of the loan and that they are only 
obligated to repay the principal amount of the debt where the principal amount of the debt may not 
have been fully satisfied as of the date of bankruptcy, such that the claim for recovery of excess 
interest had not yet accrued. The bankruptcy proceedings would seem to foreclose any claim to 
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recover for usurious interest accruing prior to the discharge in bankruptcy. But those proceedings 
cannot be taken as a conclusive admission by plaintiffs that the loan was lawful or non-usurious, and 
hence they do not operate to bar any claim for usurious accrual after the close of the bankruptcy 
proceedings. The demurrers to the first, second, and forth causes of action are therefore overruled.  

B. 3rd and 6th Causes of Action 

The third cause of action alleges a violation of 24 CFR § 206.31(a)(1) based on the origination fee 
charged by the Pans when the loan originated. (FAC ¶¶ 32, 33.) The sixth cause of action alleges a 
violation of Financial Code § 4973(b)(1) "by [Defendants] providing a payment schedule at 
origination" that allegedly violated the provisions of that statute. (FAC ¶ 52 [emphasis added].)  

These claims are based on a violation of law for a fee charged by the Pans prior to the 
commencement of their 2009 bankruptcy case. Under the Hamilton decision, this cause of action is 
barred under the doctrine of equitable estoppel as it arose prior to plaintiffs' bankruptcy against one 
of their principal creditors in their bankruptcy and was not disclosed in their multiple filings regarding 
their assets and debts in the bankruptcy case. (Hamilton, 195 Cal.App..4th at 1610, 1614.)  

Plaintiffs do not try to take on the binding precedents of Hamilton and similar case law. They resort 
instead to broader, general principles of judicial estoppel, as though the application of that doctrine 
to this fact pattern were an unsettled question. It is not. Hamilton and similar cases are binding 
precedents, establishing without ambiguity the law of judicial estoppel relevant to the present 
pleadings. An attempt to reargue the directly relevant principles of Hamilton, based on less relevant 
cases decided in far different settings, is unavailing. 

The demurrers to the third and sixth causes of action are sustained without leave to amend. 

C. 5th and 8th Causes of Action 

The fifth and eighth causes of action allege statutory violations and are both founded on actions 
taken by or on behalf of the Pans in connection with plaintiffs' alleged default and the Pans' attempt 
to enforce the debt obligation and foreclose, including demanding two different amounts owed under 
the note and deed of trust in March 2022. (FAC ¶¶ 16, 17, 42-46, and 59-62 ["providing two amount 
due in two different notices that differ nearly $200,000 from each other, threatening to foreclose on 
Plaintiffs' home"].) These claims allege actions by the Pans that post-date plaintiffs' bankruptcy and 
are not barred by the equitable estoppel or judicial estoppel doctrines as a result of the bankruptcy. 
(Hamilton, 195 Cal.App.4th at 1614.)  

The demurrers to the fifth and eighth causes of action are overruled. 

D. 7th and 9th Causes of Action 

The seventh cause of action asserts that the Pans violated the truth-in-lending regulations, specifically 
15 U.S.C. § 1637(b) and 12 CFR § 1026.7, in failing to transmit any monthly statements to them since 
the inception of the loan in 2008. (FAC ¶ 56.) They also allege a ninth cause of action for violation of 
the Unfair Competition Law, Business & Professions Code §§ 17200 et seq., at least in part based on 
the violation of the truth-in-lending regulations and other statutory violations alleged in the fifth and 
eighth causes of action based on the improper amount stated in the notice under Civil Code § 2966 
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and the Notice of Default. (FAC ¶¶ 64, 65, 67-69.)  

To the extent that these causes of action seek relief for alleged violations occurring prior to the 2009-
10 bankruptcy proceedings, they are are barred by the failure to assert such claims in those 
proceedings. As with the alleged usury violations, however, plaintiffs’ failure to plead claims in the 
bankruptcy cannot be taken as tacitly admitting the legality of any of defendants’ actions that might 
happen in the future. Accordingly, judicial estoppel does not bar plaintiffs from asserting these claims 
as to any monthly-statement violations allegedly occurring since the bankruptcy discharge, nor any 
UCL claims based on (among other things) such violations. 

The demurrers to the seventh and ninth causes of action are overruled.  
 

  
    

2. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  C22-01970 
CASE NAME: CHRIS TRAINA VS. APPLE, INC. 
 HEARING ON DEMURRER TOCOMPLAINT FILED BY APPLE INC ON 11/15/22  
FILED BY:  
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
Defendant Apple demurs to plaintiff’s complaint, arguing that it fails to state any causes of action. 
Plaintiff has moved to strike the demurrer (Line 3), but has not otherwise substantively responded to 
it. 
 
The demurrer is sustained, with leave to amend. Plaintiff may file and serve a First Amended 
Complaint by February 23, 2023. If he does not do so, the case will be dismissed. 
 
The Complaint 
 
This complaint arises from an alleged incident occurring on September 28, 2020, at the height of the 
COVID pandemic emergency. Plaintiff alleges that he attempted to visit Apple’s store in Walnut Creek 
to exchange a product he had purchased at a different Apple store. He was refused entry into the 
store because he refused to wear a face mask. The complaint alleges conclusorily that “Plaintiff was 
unable to wear a face covering” (¶ 9), and that “Plaintiff explained that there was both religious and 
medical conditions which prevented him to wear a face covering” (¶ 10). The complaint, however, 
does not allege what those asserted medical or religious reasons might be. Nor does it allege that he 
communicated the content of his medical or religious reasons to any Apple personnel. On a demurrer 
the Court must assume the truth of plaintiff’s allegations that plaintiff had such conditions. Absent 
any allegation that plaintiff explained or offered any factual support for his claims, however, the Court 
is not required to indulge the assumption that Apple, upon hearing what may have been conclusory 
and unsupported assertions, was automatically required to accept them as true and valid. 
 
Plaintiff also alleges that he requested “accommodation” in the form of having the “exchange 
performed outside the store”, presumably meaning on the sidewalk in front of it. He makes no 
allegations as to what other forms of accommodation may have been requested or offered, such as 
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an exchange by shipping the returned product to Apple and receiving an exchanged product back. 
(Apple claims in its demurrer that such non-face-to-face means of accommodation were in place, but 
the Court cannot consider that factual assertion on this demurrer because it is outside the scope of 
what the complaint alleges. The Court likewise has not considered the flash drive submitted or any 
other case-specific factual material because it is outside the pleadings.) 
 
The complaint asserts three causes of action: (1) discrimination in violation of the Unruh Act, Civil 
Code § 51(b); (2) negligence; and (3) intentional infliction of emotional distress. 
 
Unruh Act 
 
Although the complaint is terse in describing the logic of its claims, it appears that there are two 
possible branches to plaintiff’s Unruh Act claim – discrimination on the basis of religion, and failure to 
accommodate plaintiff’ asserted medical reasons for refusing to be masked. The operative allegations 
are: 
 

18. Plaintiff identified a religious reason for being unable to wear a face covering. 
 
19. Plaintiff identified a medical condition for being unable to wear a face covering. 
 
20. Defendant took it upon themselves to discriminate plaintiff [sic] by refusing to serve or 
accommodate customer in any way. 

 
On the present complaint, “identified” may be a bit of an overstatement; plaintiff alleges only that he 
told Apple personnel that these reasons existed, not that he identified what those reasons might be. 
Leaving the point of specificity aside, however, plaintiff’s allegations simply do not state a viable claim 
under the Unruh Act. 
 

Unless an Unruh Civil Rights Act claim is based on an ADA violation, the act requires a 
claimant to prove “‘intentional discrimination.’” A claimant may not “rel[y] on 
the effects of a facially neutral policy on a particular group … to infer solely from such 
effects a discriminatory intent.” “A disparate impact analysis or test does not apply to 
Unruh Civil Rights Act claims’”. Thus, absent an ADA violation, the Unruh Civil Rights 
Act requires allegations supporting “‘willful, affirmative misconduct’” with the specific 
intent “to accomplish discrimination on the basis of [a protected trait].” Although 
“evidence of disparate impact [may] be probative of intentional discrimination in 
some cases” under the Unruh Civil Rights Act, it cannot alone establish such intent. 

 
Martinez v. Cot’n Wash, Inc. (2022) 81 Cal.App.5th 1026, 1036 (citations omitted). “A policy that is 
neutral on its face is not actionable under the act, even when it has a disproportionate impact on a 
protected class.” Turner v. Assn. of American Medical Colleges (2008) 167 Cal.App.4th 1401, 1408, 
citing Harris v. Capital Growth Investors XIV (1991) 52 Cal.3d 1142, 1172-73; Belton v. Comcast Cable 
Holdings (2007) 151 Cal.App.4th 1224, 1238. 
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In Martinez, for example, the challenged conduct was maintenance of a website that was 
technologically incompatible with screen-reading software, making the site inaccessible to blind 
users. The court held that this was facially neutral conduct that did not constitute intentional 
discrimination under the Unruh Act against the blind, because it was not intended or targeted at 
disadvantaging blind users. Similarly, in Koebke v. Bernardo Heights Country Club (2005) 36 Cal.4th 
824, 853-54, the challenge was to a practice of allowing spousal benefits, to the obvious disadvantage 
of same-sex couples (who were not allowed to marry at the time). The court held that the practice 
could be regarded as intentional discrimination against same-sex couples, under the Unruh Act, only if 
it were established that the married-couple requirement was adopted or applied specifically for the 
purpose of discriminating against same-sex couples – as opposed to being a facially neutral policy that 
happened to work to the disadvantage of that group. 
 
Here, on the face of the complaint, Apple’s mask requirement in September 2020 was a neutral policy 
of general applicability. There is no allegation that it was adopted or enforced for the purpose of 
discriminating against any particular religious group, even a group as general as “people with religious 
reasons not to wear masks”. Plaintiff’s grievance, indeed, is not that he was singled out for adverse 
treatment, on the basis or religion or otherwise. Rather, his grievance is that he was not singled out 
for an exception from an otherwise universal policy of requiring masks for entry into Apple’s store. 
Apple’s mask policy – like the married-couple requirement in Koebke – was a neutral policy of general 
applicability to everyone, not an intentional form of discrimination against adherents to any particular 
religion. That does not violate the intentional-discrimination branch of the Unruh Act. The Act 
requires businesses to refrain from discriminating against anyone because of his or her religion– but 
it does not require them to discriminate in favor of anyone on account of his or her religion. 
 
As for plaintiff’s alleged medical concerns, the Act does not include a general requirement that 
businesses must accommodate the individual medical needs of potential customers, unless a 
business’s failure of accommodation amounts to a violation of the Americans With Disabilities Act 
(ADA). E.g., Turner, 167 Cal.App.4th at 1409-11. A “disability" under the ADA is "a physical or mental 
impairment that substantially limits one or more of the major life activities of such individuals ... or 
being regarded as having such an impairment. " 42 U.S.C. § 12102(1); see generally, e.g., Real v. City 
of Compton (1999) 73 Cal.App.4th 1407. 
 
Plaintiff does not allege that he is a disabled person under the ADA. An asserted medical reason for 
not wearing a face mask, even if that reason were adequately and specifically alleged here (which it 
isn’t), would not qualify as a disability under the ADA. Accordingly, no issue of accommodation of a 
disability arises. (See Real, 73 Cal.App.4th at 1421.) 
 
Negligence 
 
Plaintiff’s cause of action for negligence is likewise very cursory. Its fatal weakness is the absence of 
any allegation that Apple owed a legally cognizable duty to plaintiff that was violated here. The 
existence of a legal duty of care is a question of law for the Court to determine. E.g., Delgado v. 



SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, CONTRA COSTA COUNTY 
MARTINEZ, CA 

DEPARTMENT 12 
JUDICIAL OFFICER: CHARLES S TREAT 

HEARING DATE: 02/02/2023 
 

 

9 

 

American Multi-Cinema (1999) 72 Cal.App.4th 1403, 1406-07. 
 
Plaintiff alleges: 
 

22. The Doe Defendants and APPLE, INC. owed a duty to plaintiff to use ordinary care 
in giving free and equal services to Plaintiff. 
 
23. The Doe Defendants and APPLE, INC. owed a duty to care about peoples religious 
and medical conditions. 

 
To be sure, Apple owed plaintiff a duty not to discriminate against him in violation of the Unruh Act – 
although pleading the same violation of duty as a tort of negligence would seem to be superfluous. 
But the Court holds above that plaintiff has alleged no actionable violation of the Unruh Act. 
 
It is not clear whether plaintiff intends to be alleging any form of tort duty broader than a statutory 
duty of nondiscrimination. If so, however, he cannot identify any legal basis for such a broader duty, 
for purposes of supporting a duty of care in a negligence cause of action. The phrase “give free and 
equal services” (assuming “free” means “unrestricted”, not “at no charge”) is simply too general and 
vague to constitute an actionable duty; tort law does not impose any duty to “equality” of services 
exceeding what is required by the Unruh Act or other civil rights statutes. Putting the same point 
differently, plaintiff was indeed offered “equal” services, namely the ability to enter the store wearing 
a mask, as was required of everyone else seeking to enter. The gist of his complaint is that he wasn’t 
singled out for unequal services. 
 
As for ¶ 23, it’s not clear whether plaintiff really means a “duty to care about” religious or medical 
conditions, as opposed to a “duty of care”. But either way, a business such as Apple owes plaintiff no 
tort duty of care to give plaintiff a special and personal exemption from Apple’s otherwise general 
business requirements of customers, including requiring them to wear masks in the store in a time of 
pandemic emergency, regardless of plaintiff’s reasons for his refusal. 
 
Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress 
 
Plaintiff’s final asserted cause of action is for intentional infliction of emotional distress. He alleges: 
 

28. Absolutely refusing all business to a customer without any attempt to 
accommodate for religious or medical conditions constitutes extreme and outrageous 
conduct for businesses in the State of California. 
 

(The other paragraph of this cause of action has substantive problems of its own, but in any event it is 
pleaded only against the Doe defendant, who has been neither identified or served, and who is not 
the demurring party here.) 
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A cause of action for intentional infliction of emotional distress exists when there has 
been (1) extreme and outrageous conduct by the defendant with the intention of 
causing, or reckless disregard of the probability of causing, emotional distress; (2) the 
plaintiff has suffered severe or extreme emotional distress; and (3) the defendant's 
outrageous conduct was the actual and proximate causation of the emotional 
distress. (Hughes v. Pair (2009) 46 Cal.4th 1035, 1050; .) “A defendant's conduct is 
‘outrageous’ when it is so ‘“‘extreme as to exceed all bounds of that usually tolerated 
in a civilized community.’”’ [Citation.] And the defendant's conduct must be 
‘“‘intended to inflict injury or engaged in with the realization that injury will result.’”’” 
(Hughes, at pp. 1050–1051.) 
 
“Liability for intentional infliction of emotional distress ‘“does not extend to mere 
insults, indignities, threats, annoyances, petty oppressions, or other trivialities.” 
[Citation.]’ [Citations] … . [¶] With respect to the requirement that a plaintiff show 
severe emotional distress, [the Supreme Court] has set a high bar. ‘Severe emotional 
distress means “‘emotional distress of such substantial quality or enduring quality 
that no reasonable [person] in civilized society should be expected to endure it.’”’” 
(Hughes v. Pair, supra, 46 Cal.4th at p. 1051.) It is for the court to determine in the 
first instance whether the defendant's conduct may reasonably be regarded as so 
extreme and outrageous as to permit recovery. (Chang v. Lederman (2009) 172 
Cal.App.4th 67, 87; Fowler v. Varian Associates, Inc. (1987) 196 Cal.App.3d 34, 44.) 

 
Jackson v. Mayweather (2017) 10 Cal.App.5th 1240, 1265. 
 
There are at least four interrelated problems with this allegation as the basis for an infliction tort. 
First, plaintiff’s factual allegations simply don’t bear out his general rhetoric about “absolutely 
refusing all business…without any attempt to accommodate”. Plaintiff alleges that Apple refused the 
particular form of accommodation that plaintiff demanded, namely a face-to-face sidewalk exchange 
(which, Apple could reasonably conclude, would have ameliorated but not eliminated the threat of 
communicable disease). He does not allege, however, that there was no conceivable other way in 
which he and Apple could have conducted their transaction, nor that Apple refused to allow any other 
form of “all business” than inside the store with a mask. He does not allege, for example, that Apple 
refused to allow him to return his purchase, and receive a replacement, by indirect means such as 
shipping. 
 
Second, the Court utterly rejects the proposition that requiring all customers to wear masks for face-
to-face transactions inside a store, at a time when all relevant governmental entities were urging or 
requiring exactly that for public health reasons, could possibly constitute the kind of outrageous 
conduct – so extreme as to exceed all bounds of that usually tolerated in a civilized community – as 
would be required to support this tort. Plaintiff was of the opinion that he should be exempt because 
of unspecified religious or medical concerns, and he was entitled to hold that opinion. But Apple was 
not required by tort law to acquiesce in that opinion just because plaintiff said so. Moreover, Apple 
had reason to take care for the health of its own employees and other customers. If the salesperson 

https://advance.lexis.com/document/searchwithindocument/?pdmfid=1000516&crid=37c02545-9d65-4cab-b05a-25a3c22521a0&pdsearchwithinterm=demurrer&pdworkfolderlocatorid=NOT_SAVED_IN_WORKFOLDER&ecomp=zssyk&prid=fef22465-9fa8-40bc-95da-2157c06fe659
https://advance.lexis.com/document/searchwithindocument/?pdmfid=1000516&crid=37c02545-9d65-4cab-b05a-25a3c22521a0&pdsearchwithinterm=demurrer&pdworkfolderlocatorid=NOT_SAVED_IN_WORKFOLDER&ecomp=zssyk&prid=fef22465-9fa8-40bc-95da-2157c06fe659
https://advance.lexis.com/document/searchwithindocument/?pdmfid=1000516&crid=37c02545-9d65-4cab-b05a-25a3c22521a0&pdsearchwithinterm=demurrer&pdworkfolderlocatorid=NOT_SAVED_IN_WORKFOLDER&ecomp=zssyk&prid=fef22465-9fa8-40bc-95da-2157c06fe659
https://advance.lexis.com/document/searchwithindocument/?pdmfid=1000516&crid=37c02545-9d65-4cab-b05a-25a3c22521a0&pdsearchwithinterm=demurrer&pdworkfolderlocatorid=NOT_SAVED_IN_WORKFOLDER&ecomp=zssyk&prid=fef22465-9fa8-40bc-95da-2157c06fe659
https://advance.lexis.com/document/searchwithindocument/?pdmfid=1000516&crid=37c02545-9d65-4cab-b05a-25a3c22521a0&pdsearchwithinterm=demurrer&pdworkfolderlocatorid=NOT_SAVED_IN_WORKFOLDER&ecomp=zssyk&prid=fef22465-9fa8-40bc-95da-2157c06fe659
https://advance.lexis.com/document/searchwithindocument/?pdmfid=1000516&crid=37c02545-9d65-4cab-b05a-25a3c22521a0&pdsearchwithinterm=demurrer&pdworkfolderlocatorid=NOT_SAVED_IN_WORKFOLDER&ecomp=zssyk&prid=fef22465-9fa8-40bc-95da-2157c06fe659
https://advance.lexis.com/document/searchwithindocument/?pdmfid=1000516&crid=37c02545-9d65-4cab-b05a-25a3c22521a0&pdsearchwithinterm=demurrer&pdworkfolderlocatorid=NOT_SAVED_IN_WORKFOLDER&ecomp=zssyk&prid=fef22465-9fa8-40bc-95da-2157c06fe659
https://advance.lexis.com/document/searchwithindocument/?pdmfid=1000516&crid=37c02545-9d65-4cab-b05a-25a3c22521a0&pdsearchwithinterm=demurrer&pdworkfolderlocatorid=NOT_SAVED_IN_WORKFOLDER&ecomp=zssyk&prid=fef22465-9fa8-40bc-95da-2157c06fe659
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who dealt with plaintiff caught COVID from him, it would be cold comfort that plaintiff claimed to 
have religious reasons for inflicting that risk on her. 
 
Plaintiff points out that the various government mandates may have had exemptions for religious or 
medical reasons for not wearing a mask. To say that Apple could have been permitted by law to 
honor such exemptions, however, is not the same thing as saying that Apple was legally required to 
grant the same exemptions itself, if it chose to adopt a more inclusive policy for the protection of its 
own employees and customers. Nor was Apple required to simply take people’s unelaborated word 
for it that they really qualified for such exemptions, which might be asserted pretextually. At this 
point it remains to be seen, factually, whether plaintiff really did have a genuine religious or medical 
reason for his refusal; that is not a matter to be adjudicated on a demurrer. But the present point is 
that by no stretch of the outraged imagination could it have been extreme and outrageous conduct 
for Apple to have its doubts on the subject. 
 
Third, while plaintiff does allege earlier in the complaint that he “suffered (and continues to suffer) 
severe emotional distress” (¶ 26) as a result of his being forced to conduct his exchange transaction 
by some means other than face-to-face and in-store, that falls a good way short of the extreme 
distress required for this tort, “emotional distress of such substantial quality or enduring quality that 
no reasonable [person] in civilized society should be expected to endure it” (Jackson, 10 Cal.App.5th 
at 1265). 
 
And fourth, even if plaintiff had actually alleged that he personally had suffered such extreme 
emotional distress, the standard for tort liability for intentional infliction does not turn on plaintiff’s 
own subjective and idiosyncratic emotional vulnerability. The standard is an objective one – whether 
any reasonable person would have been so severely affronted that “no reasonable person in civilized 
society should be expected to endure it”. A person’s disagreement with having to wear a mask to 
enter a store cannot conceivably come anywhere close to meeting that objective standard. We all 
know that there were many people in September 2020 who disagreed with masking mandates, or felt 
they should be individually exempted from them for various reasons; and no doubt many of them felt 
some degree of resentment or affront when others declined to accede to their views. But no 
“reasonable person in civilized society” felt the degree of extreme emotional distress required to 
support this tort, and any “reasonable person in civilized society” has gotten over it. 
 
Leave to Amend 
 
The Court is highly skeptical that plaintiff will be able to amend any of these claims sufficiently to 
withstand a renewed demurrer. This is a first pleading, however, and the Court will allow plaintiff to 
try. In particular, if plaintiff can viably allege an intentional discrimination violation, it may conceivably 
also support the other counts. All that, however, will remain to be seen. 
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3. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  C22-01970 
CASE NAME: CHRIS TRAINA VS. APPLE, INC. 
 *HEARING ON MOTION TO STRIKE DEMURRER  
FILED BY:  
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
Defendant Apple has demurred to plaintiff’s complaint (Line 2). Plaintiff’s only response is to file this 
motion to strike the demurrer. The motion is denied. 
 
First, this motion itself has apparently not been served on the opposing side. That is improper, and 
plaintiff must comply in this respect in the future. Given that Apple has actually responded, however, 
the Court will overlook the lapse this time. (Plaintiff should not expect similar indulgence in the 
future.) 
 
On the merits of the motion: Plaintiff’s only asserted ground for striking the demurrer is that Apple 
failed to meet and confer before demurring. That would not be a ground for this motion even if it 
were true. “A determination by the court that the meet and confer process was insufficient shall not 
be grounds to overrule or sustain a demurrer.” Code of Civil Procedure § 430.41(a)(4). 
 
In any event, the record (as presented by both sides) shows that Apple’s counsel did attempt to meet 
and confer with plaintiff. Plaintiff, however, refused to conduct such a conversation except on a 
telephone call that plaintiff insisted on recording, despite Apple’s counsel’s express refusal to consent 
to recording. 
 
Recording a telephone call without the express consent of all participants is a crime. Penal Code 
§ 632(a). Defense counsel was therefore entirely within his rights in refusing to consent to recording, 
and in refusing to continue the call when plaintiff insisted on recording it. 
 

 

  
    

4. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  MSC21-02153 
CASE NAME: TORRES VS. KIPER DEVELOPMENT 
 *HEARING ON MOTION IN RE: PRELIMINARY APPROVAL OF CLASS ACTION SETTLEMENT  
FILED BY:  
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 

Plaintiff Gilberto Torres moves for preliminary approval of their class action settlement with 
defendant Kiper Development, Inc. Defendant is in the business of building homes at various 
locations. Plaintiff has worked for defendant as a construction laborer. 

The motion is granted. 
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When this motion first came up for hearing, the Court indicated generally that the settlement 
appeared appropriate in most respects, but that it had concerns in two respects.  

However, the Court is a little concerned by the relatively modest level of recovery 
provided. The gross settlement amount is recited to be less than 24% of the claims’ 
“likely value” – not, the Court notes, of the maximum possible recovery – and the net 
settlement amount is only 6%. The Court understands that there may be valid 
reasons for such a strong settlement discount, and the present papers hint at what 
the reasons might be; but the explanation is fairly conclusory and generic. The Court 
invites some more detailed candor as to why the case is settling so cheaply. Little 
information is provided, for example, as to the actual content of the allegations, and 
whether or not they proved to have substance after discovery. 
 
The Court is also concerned about the proposed 40% contingency fee for plaintiff’s 
counsel, which is distinctly on the higher end of the typical contingency percentages 
allowed. Again, there may be reasons for this, but the supporting arguments 
presented on this point are quite generic (beyond the speculation, still 
undocumented, that this may represent a lodestar ratio below 1). The results 
obtained are certainly less than exceptional, and the Court is not of the view that a 
reduced settlement principal automatically calls for an elevated contingency 
percentage. The Court is not disapproving this now, but would like a better 
explanation for it. 
 

Tentative Ruling of 1/19/23. 

Counsel appeared in response to the tentative ruling. As for the recovery level, counsel gave 
an oral explanation, which the Court invited counsel to elaborate further in a supplemental written 
submission. Counsel has now done so, and as the discussion below explains, the Court is satisfied for 
purposes of preliminary approval. As for attorney fees, counsel noted that the issue of approval or 
modification of a fee request is more appropriately taken up at the point of final approval. The Court 
agrees. While the Court’s concerns will remain for further attention, the Court agrees that preliminary 
approval can proceed. 

A. Background and Settlement Terms 

The original complaint was filed on October 12, 2021. It alleged a variety of wage-and-hour 
claims against defendant, arising from plaintiff’s underlying factual allegations that defendant 
required off-the-clock work; failed to provide proper meal and rest periods; failed to reimburse 
employees for use of their own tools; and failed to pay overtime. There are no PAGA claims. 

The settlement would create a gross settlement fund of $50,000. The class representative 
payment to the plaintiff would be $7,500. Attorney’s fees are proposed to be $20,000 (40% of the 
settlement). Litigation costs would not exceed $4,000. The settlement administrator’s costs will not 
exceed $5,000. The net amount paid directly to the class members would be about $13,500. The fund 
is non-reversionary. There are an estimated 27 class members. Based on the estimated class size, the 
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average net payment for each class member is approximately $500. 

The entire settlement amount will be deposited with the settlement administrator within 10 
days after final approval of the settlement. 

The proposed settlement would certify a class of all current and former non-exempt field 
employees employed at Defendants’ California facilities between October 12, 2017 and 60 days 
following the signature of the settlement agreement. 

The class members will not be required to file a claim. Class members may object or opt out 
of the settlement. Funds would be apportioned to class members based on the number of work 
weeks worked during the class period.  

Various prescribed follow-up steps will be taken with respect to mail that is returned as 
undeliverable. Any portion of the net settlement fund not claimed by class members (by cashing their 
checks) will be disbursed equally to two cy pres organizations – Capital Pro Bono, Inc., and the Center 
for Workers’ Rights. 

The settlement contains release language covering “all claims and causes of action, alleged or 
which could have reasonably been alleged based on the allegations in the SAC,” including a number of 
specified claims. Under recent appellate authority, the limitation to those claims with the “same 
factual predicate” as those alleged in the complaint is critical. (Amaro v. Anaheim Arena Mgmt., LLC 
(2021) 69 Cal.App.5th 521, 537 [“A court cannot release claims that are outside the scope of the 
allegations of the complaint.” “Put another way, a release of claims that goes beyond the scope of the 
allegations in the operative complaint’ is impermissible.” (Id., quoting Marshall v. Northrop Grumman 
Corp. (C.D. Cal.2020) 469 F.Supp.3d 942, 949.) 

Formal discovery was undertaken, resulting in the production of substantial documents. The 
matter settled after extended arms-length negotiations. 

Plaintiff’s counsel provided an estimate of $210,465 as the realistic value of full recovery. As 
explained in the supplemental filing, however, that potential maximum is subject to a number of 
problems of proof that became apparent in discovery and negotiations. Among these are that 
defendant maintained a handbook with facially valid meal and rest period policies requiring accurate 
recording of hours worked and prohibiting off-the-clock work, and inviting employees to pursue any 
necessary corrections. It would thus have been necessary for plaintiff to prove that actual practices 
were in violation of these written policies, and that defendant had actual knowledge that such 
violations were occurring. 

B. Legal Standards 

The primary determination to be made is whether the proposed settlement is “fair, 
reasonable, and adequate,” under Dunk v. Ford Motor Co. (1996) 48 Cal.App.4th 1794, 1801, 
including “the strength of plaintiffs’ case, the risk, expense, complexity and likely duration of further 
litigation, the risk of maintaining class action status through trial, the amount offered in settlement, 
the extent of discovery completed and the state of the proceedings, the experience and views of 
counsel, the presence of a governmental participant, and the reaction … to the proposed settlement.” 
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(See also Amaro v. Anaheim Arena Mgmt., LLC, supra, 69 Cal.App.5th 521.) 

California law provides some general guidance concerning judicial approval of any settlement. 
First, public policy generally favors settlement. (Neary v. Regents of University of California (1992) 3 
Cal.4th 273.) Nonetheless, the court should not approve an agreement contrary to law or public 
policy. (Bechtel Corp. v. Superior Court (1973) 33 Cal.App.3d 405, 412; Timney v. Lin (2003) 106 
Cal.App.4th 1121, 1127.) Moreover, “[t]he court cannot surrender its duty to see that the judgment 
to be entered is a just one, nor is the court to act as a mere puppet in the matter.” (California State 
Auto. Assn. Inter-Ins. Bureau v. Superior Court (1990) 50 Cal.3d 658, 664.) As a result, courts have 
specifically noted that Neary does not always apply, because “[w]here the rights of the public are 
implicated, the additional safeguard of judicial review, though more cumbersome to the settlement 
process, serves a salutatory purpose.” (Consumer Advocacy Group, Inc. v. Kintetsu Enterprises of 
America (2006) 141 Cal.App.4th 48, 63.) 

C. Attorney Fees 

Plaintiff seeks 40% of the total settlement amount as fees, relying on the “common fund” 

theory. Even a proper common fund-based fee award, however, should be reviewed through a 

lodestar cross-check. In Lafitte v. Robert Half International (2016) 1 Cal.5th 480, 503, the Supreme 

Court endorsed the use of a lodestar cross-check as a way to determine whether the percentage 

allocated is reasonable. It stated: “If the multiplier calculated by means of a lodestar cross-check is 

extraordinarily high or low, the trial court should consider whether the percentage used should be 

adjusted so as to bring the imputed multiplier within a justifiable range, but the court is not 

necessarily required to make such an adjustment.” (Id., at 505.) Following typical practice, however, 

the fee award will not be considered at this time, but only as part of final approval.  

Similarly, litigation costs and the requested representative payment of $7,500 for each 

plaintiff will be reviewed at time of final approval. Criteria for evaluation of representative payment 

requests are discussed in Clark v. American Residential Services LLC (2009) 175 Cal.App.4th 785, 804-

07. 

D.  Discussion and Conclusion 

Counsel will be directed to prepare an order reflecting this entire tentative ruling, the other 

findings in the previously submitted proposed order, and to obtain a hearing date for the motion for 

final approval from the Department clerk. Other dates in the scheduled notice process should track as 

appropriate to the hearing date. The ultimate judgment must provide for a compliance hearing after 

the settlement has been completely implemented. Plaintiffs’ counsel are to submit a compliance 

statement one week before the compliance hearing date. Five percent of the attorney’s fees are to be 

withheld by the claims administrator pending satisfactory compliance as found by the Court. 
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5. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  MSC21-02242 
CASE NAME: RODRIGUEZ VS. GONSALVES & SANTUCCI 
 HEARING ON SUMMARY MOTION  
FILED BY: GONSALVES & SANTUCCI, INC., A CALIFORNIA CORPORATION 
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
Continued by the Court, at the 1/20/23 CMC, to 2/16/23 at 9:00 a.m. 
 

 

  
    

6. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  MSC22-00460 
CASE NAME: NATURA MANAGEMENT, LLC VS. AGRA TECH, INC., A CALIFORNIA CORPORATION 
 *HEARING ON MOTION IN RE: APPOINTMENT OF SPECIAL MASTER TO OVERSEE DISCOVERY IN THIS 
CASE  
FILED BY:  
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
At the moving party’s request, this motion is continued to February 16 to enable the parties to meet 
and confer on identification of a discovery special master and a scope of assignment. 
 

 

  

 


